AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS

OF THE

WORCESTER DISTRICT DENTAL SOCIETY

The Worcester District Dental Society is an unincorporated association under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is recognized as a component society of the Massachusetts Dental Society ("MDS") and the American Dental Association. In accordance with the Bylaws of the MDS as in effect from time to time (including after taking into account the Transition Plan presented to the House of Delegates on [June 7, 2019], the "MDS Bylaws"), this District is a part of Region two and the cities and towns comprising the District are set forth on Appendix A.

Section 1 – PURPOSE

The purpose of this Society shall be primarily to represent the interests of the members and the interests of the dental profession. In doing so, the Society may promote the art and science of Dentistry and Dental Medicine and may promote the improvement of the health of the public.

Section 2 – MEMBERSHIP

Members of the District shall consist of the following categories of membership: Active, Associate, Life, Retired and Non-resident. All members shall be individuals who satisfy the requirements applicable to their particular category of membership, as set forth in the MDS Bylaws, and who either maintain an office for the practice of dentistry in the geographic area comprising the District or, who reside in the District. All Active, Life and Retired members in good standing shall enjoy all privileges of membership in the District without exception. All applicants for membership shall be elected as set forth in these Bylaws. Simultaneously upon the termination of a member's membership in the MDS, such member's membership in this District shall terminate.

Section 3 – DUES

The annual dues of this District for Active, Associate and Non-resident members shall be established by the members at a meeting of the members, upon recommendation of the Executive Committee. No dues shall be charged for Retired members. Dues shall be collected in conformity with the MDS Bylaws.

Section 4 – MEETINGS

Regular meetings of this District shall be held at such times as the Members or Executive Committee may determine. There shall be at least one annual meeting per year. The annual meeting, which shall be held prior to September 30, will serve to elect all District positions as

listed in section 6B, as well as candidates for At-Large Trustee (yearly) and Regional Trustee (every odd year) in addition to delegates and alternate delegates to the House of Delegates. The Executive Committee shall meet no less than six times per year (including the Annual Meeting.) The notice for the annual meeting shall state that it is for the transaction of the annual business of the District and the election of officers. Said notice shall include a list of at least one nominee for each elective office. Special meetings shall be called upon petition signed by at least 10 members.

Section 5 – QUORUM; TELEPHONE PRESENCE; PROXIES

In any event no less than 20 members present shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business of the District at a general meeting. A quorum for the Executive Committee shall be five of nine members. Members and committee members may participate in any meeting by any means of a conference telephone or similar communications equipment, by which all members participating may simultaneously hear each other during the meeting. All persons participating in the meeting must be able to hear each other at the same time. Participation by such means will constitute presence in person at the meeting. No voting or participation by proxy shall be permitted at any meeting.

Section 6 – ORDER OF BUSINESS; PARLIAMENTARY AUTHORITY

Except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws, the parliamentary authority for meetings and elections of the District shall be the current edition of *The Standard Code of Parliamentary Procedure (formerly edited by Alice Sturgis)*. At all regular meetings of the District, the order of business shall be as determined by such parliamentary authority unless otherwise determined by the President.

Section 7 – ELIGIBILITY, ELECTION, REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS AND OTHER REPRESENTATIVES; VACANCIES

- A. Only District members who are active, life or retired members of the MDS shall be eligible to serve as an officer or be nominated as a Regional Trustee or At-Large Trustee. In addition to these requirements, to be nominated as a Regional Trustee or At-Large Trustee a candidate shall have served on the District Executive Committee, MDS, Committee, or similar leadership roles in other organizations. No officer shall simultaneously serve as the Regional Trustee, At-Large Trustee, orhold more than one office.
- B. At the annual meeting or business meeting, the District members shall elect from among the membership, by ballot, the following officers and representatives, who shall commence their respective terms on July 1 of the applicable year and continue for a period of two years: President, President Elect, Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Editor and the Immediate Past President. The Immediate Past President shall serve a term of two years following the Presidency. All officers, excepting the President and President-Elect may serve up to three additional consecutive terms (a total of eight years) (The officers in place at the time of the adoption of this revision of the Bylaws shall continue their current terms for one additional year.)

- (i) a President, President Elect, Immediate Past President, Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Editor will serve a term of 2 years. Secretary, Treasurer, Assistant Treasurer, Editor each to serve for a term of two years, eligible for renewal.
- (ii) one or more delegate(s) to the MDS House of Delegates to serve for the term specified in the MDS Bylaws *(required)*
- (iii) one or more alternate delegate(s) to said House of Delegates to serve for the term identical to those set forth in (iv) above for delegates (required);
- (iv) members of the Ethics Committee (at least three required);
- (v) members of the Peer Review Committee (at least six required);
- (vi) members of the District Nominating Committee who shall serve for a term of one year and no member of which shall serve more than three consecutive years as an elected member (at least three required to be elected); and
- (vii) a member to serve on the MDS Trustee Selection and Nominations Committee, in accordance with the MDS Bylaws.
- C. At the annual meeting¹, the District members may select from among the membership, by ballot, a nominee for At-Large Trustee. The Secretary shall submit the name of such nominee to the MDS Trustee Selection and Nominations Committee no later than September 30 of each year.
- D. At the annual meeting of every odd-numbered year², the District members shall select from among the membership, by ballot, a nominee for Regional Trustee. The Secretary shall submit the name of such nominee to the MDS Trustee Selection and Nominations Committee no later than September 30 of such biennial year.
- E. Beginning July 1, 2021, the MDS Bylaws state the following in regards to removal of a Regional Trustee:
- (i) If a District has a concern with the Trustee representing its Region, the District may, with a two-thirds vote of its Executive Committee, submit that concern in writing to the MDS Secretary for the Board of Trustees to review.
- F. In addition to such provisions as may be set forth in the MDS Bylaws, the Trustee and the officers of the District may be removed from office in the following manner:
 - (i) Any officer may be removed from office by vote of two-thirds of the District membership present and voting at any meeting of the District members.

3

¹ This should take place before September 30.

² This should take place before September 30.

- (ii) In addition, any officer may also be removed from office by vote of two-thirds of the Executive Committee whenever, in its judgment, the best interests of the District would be served thereby. The officer who is to be removed by the Executive Committee shall have an opportunity to be heard before the Executive Committee or a subcommittee thereof and shall be provided with a statement of the proposed reasons for removal not less than thirty days in advance of such hearing.
- (iii) All decisions of the District membership and the Executive Committee to remove an officer shall be final. An officer who has been removed shall not be eligible to serve as either a Regional Trustee, At-Large Trustee, or as an officer of the District.
- G. Any officer may resign from office by delivering a written resignation to any officer of the District or to a meeting of the Executive Committee. Such resignation shall be effective upon receipt (unless specified to be effective at some other time) and acceptance thereof shall not be necessary to make it effective unless it so states. The officer shall also deliver a copy of such resignation to the MDS.
- H. In the event of a vacancy of the President, the President Elect shall assume the title and office and perform all the duties of the President for the remainder of the term. In the event of a vacancy of any officer other than the President, the President shall appoint an eligible person to fill each such vacant position for the remainder of the term of office. The period of time served in any office as a result of such appointment by the President shall be exempt from and not counted against any limitation on the term of such office. The Executive Committee shall confirm the appointments made by the President. The terms "vacant" or "vacancy" when used in any Section of these Bylaws shall include disqualification, suspension, removal, and resignation.

Section 8 – DUTIES OF OFFICERS

The President shall preside at all meetings of the District and of the Executive Committee, serve *ex officio* on the Executive Committee, serve *ex officio* on all committees (except the District Nominating Committee), appoint the chair of all committees (except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws), and otherwise supervise all activities of the District. The President shall nominate all members of committees, in the case of any vacancies. The President shall have the power to create ad hoc committees and to appoint the members of these committees. These members shall be confirmed by the Executive Committee.

The President Elect shall assist the President as requested, act in the absence of the President, be acquainted with the duties of the President, and serve *ex officio* on the Executive and District Nominating Committees.

The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the members and Executive Committee, supervise the membership records of the District, serve *ex officio* on the Executive Committee, certify to the MDS those persons who are delegates and alternate delegates to the House of Delegates, receive applications for membership, forward same to the Ethics Committee and receive the recommendation of the Ethics Committee with respect thereto. The Secretary shall place on the agenda of the next Executive Committee meeting action on any application for

membership after the sooner of (i) receipt of the recommendation of the Ethics Committee or (ii) the passage of at least 15 days from the time that said application for membership was forwarded to the Ethics Committee.

The Treasurer shall supervise the collection, disbursement and banking of all monies of the District, ensure compliance with the MDS District finance policy and other policies adopted by the MDS from time to time, make a written report to the Members annually, submit to the Executive Committee a budget for each fiscal year, which has been reviewed by the Budget and Finance Committee, and serve *ex officio* on the Executive Committee.

The Assistant Treasurer shall assist the Treasurer as requested, act in the absence of the Treasurer, be acquainted with the duties of the Treasurer, and serve *ex officio* on the Executive Committee.

The Editor, Chair of the Communications and Social Media Committee, shall supervise the editing and the production of the District's newsletter and electronic publications, exercise full editorial control over all such publications, and serve *ex officio* on the Executive Committee.

Section 9 – EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee shall consist of the elected leadership of the District, as follows: the President, the President Elect, the Secretary, the Treasurer, the Immediate Past President, the Assistant Treasurer, the Editor, the Chair, Continuing Education Committee, and the Regional Trustee. The Executive Committee shall be the managing body of the District vested with full power to conduct all business of the District, subject to these Bylaws. The Executive Committee shall confirm the members of all committees of the District (except as otherwise provided in these Bylaws). The Executive Committee shall nominate members to serve on committees and other similar bodies of MDS and the American Dental Association, whenever afforded the opportunity to do so.

Section 10 – OTHER COMMITTEES be made at the discretion of the chair each year. The Society shall have three categories of Committees: Permanent, Standing and Special.

Permanent Committees
The Permanent Committees of the Society shall be the Executive,
Budget and Finance
Nominating,
Bylaws,
Ethics,
Peer Review

and such other committees required by the current Massachusetts Dental Society By-Laws. Standing Committees

The Standing Committees of the Society shall be: Allied Dental Health Professionals, Communications and Social Media Continuing Education and Program, Legislative Membership and Welcoming, Memorial Disaster Relief

These committees will cease function unless re-established by vote of the Executive Committee every six years.

Special: As created by vote of the Executive Committee

A Special Committee shall function for a period of up to two years with one, two year renewal allowed. After four years a Special Committee must petition the Bylaws Committee for elevation to Standing Committee status. The following are Special Committees:

Government Relations, Strategic Planning, New Professional

The District Nominating Committee shall consist of five members, three of whom shall be elected by the members and the President Elect (or President if there is no President Elect) and the Immediate Past President both of whom shall serve *ex officio*. The President Elect shall serve as committee chair. The District Nominating Committee shall nominate candidates (i) to serve for every position for which the members shall elect the candidate, including the elective officers of the District, the delegates and alternate delegates to the House of Delegates and the committee members set forth in these Bylaws, and (ii) for the At-Large Trustee and Regional Trustee positions.

The Ethics Committee shall consist of three members who shall be elected by the members. The Ethics Committee shall be responsible for the formulation and dissemination of information related to ethical and professional conduct in the practice and promotion of dentistry and hold hearings, make written decisions and transmit such decisions to the MDS Ethics Committee, in accordance with the provisions of the MDS Bylaws. In addition, the Ethics Committee shall make recommendations concerning applicants for membership in this District, conduct an orientation meeting to acquaint applicants with the privileges, obligations, benefits and other related aspects of membership and otherwise welcome new members and recruit new members. Recommendations with respect to applications for membership shall be acted upon as soon as possible, then shall be forwarded by the Ethics Committee to the Secretary.

The Budget and Finance Committee shall consist of five members including the President, President Elect, Immediate Past President, Treasurer, and Assistant Treasurer. The Budget and Finance Committee shall meet, preferably in February to prepare the next fiscal budget and schedule other meetings as requested by the President. The Budget and Finance Committee shall report to the Executive Committee annually or as requested by the President. All significant changes in the budget or the finances of the Worcester District Dental Society must be reviewed by the Budget and Finance Committee.

The Peer Review Committee shall consist of seven members. The Peer Review Committee's duties shall be those set forth in these Bylaws and the guidelines and manuals of operation of the MDS and the American Dental Association.

The Executive Committee may from time to time create and appoint the membership of such other committees as it may determine.

Section 11 – REMUNERATION

Neither any officer or committee member shall receive any remuneration for his or her service. Notwithstanding the foregoing, committee members and officers may be reimbursed for actual expenses, in accordance with reimbursement policies adopted by the Executive Committee and the MDS District finance policy.

Section 12 – FINANCES

There may be a Reserve Fund administered by the Treasurer. The purpose of the Reserve Fund shall be to fund the activities of the Worcester District Dental Society in times of unforeseen financial difficulty. The Reserve Fund shall not exceed ten percent of the unrestricted assets of the Worcester District Dental Society, or \$20,000.00, whichever is higher. The Executive Committee is empowered to direct the Treasurer to transfer from the general fund of the District to the Reserve Fund such sums as it deems appropriate for the stated purpose. The Reserve Fund shall not be drawn upon except as approved by the members by vote of at least two-thirds of those members present and voting at any regular or special meeting, with notice of such proposed draw having been given in the notice of the meeting. The Reserve Fund is optional, the need of which shall be determined by the Executive Committee, following a review by the Budget and Finance Committee.

The District shall comply with the MDS District finance policy and the other policies adopted by the MDS from time to time, including with respect to financial reporting. The President or Treasurer of the District shall approve all invoices and requests for payment in connection with District expenditures in order that checks may be issued by MDS. No funds shall be transferred from the District without approval of the President or Treasurer.

Expenditures of non-budgeted amounts in excess of \$500.00 shall not be permitted without the written report of the Budget and Finance Committee and shall require a two-thirds vote of the Executive Committee.

Section 13 – INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND MEMBERS OF COMMITTEES

Each uncompensated officer and member of every committee now or hereafter serving the District shall be indemnified by the MDS in accordance with and as set forth in the MDS Bylaws.

Section 14 – AMENDMENTS

These Bylaws may be changed, amended, revised or restated at any meeting of the members of the District by at least a two-thirds vote of the members present and voting,

provided that the proposed change, amendment, revision or restatement shall have been distributed at a previous meeting or published in the notice of the meeting. A copy of these Bylaws shall be filed with the MDS Secretary.

Section 15 – PRINCIPLES OF ETHICS

The Principles of Ethics of the American Dental Association as in effect from time to time shall govern the professional conduct of the members of this District. The District shall have the power to discipline any of its members, subject to the provisions of the MDS Bylaws.

Last amended December 11, 2019

Editorial changes April 29, 2021

APPENDIX A

Cities and Towns that Comprise the District

Auburn, Barre, Berlin, Blackstone, Boylston, Brookfield, Charlton, Clinton, Cordaville, Dana, Douglas, Dudley, Grafton, Hardwick, Holden, Hopedale, Hudson, Jefferson, Leicester, Linwood, Manchaug, Marlborough, Mendon, Milford, Millbury, Millville, New Braintree, Northborough, Oakdale, Oakham, Oxford, Paxton, Quinapoxet, Rochdale, Rutland, Shrewsbury, Southborough, Southbridge, Spencer, Sturbridge, Sutton, Upton, Uxbridge, Warren, Webster, Westborough, Wheelright, Whitinsville, Woodville, and Worcester.